II.	Issues Presented For Review		
	(1)	The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with this Court's decisions in <i>Light v. McHugh</i> , 28 Wn2d 326, 183 P.2d 470 (1947) and <i>Angell v. Hadley</i> , 33 Wn2d 837, 207 P2d 191 (1949)	
	(2)	The decision of Division 1 is also in conflict with the two "questions" in <i>Fralick v. Clark County</i> , 22 Wn App 156, <i>160 and n.1</i> , 589 P.2d 273 (1978) <i>rev.den.</i> 92 Wn2d 1005 (1979) a decision of Division 2 which, since it was denied review, possesses Supreme Court authority; and	
	(3)	This Petition involves two issues of substantial public interest regarding (a) clarification of the Common Grantor Doctrine, as demonstrated by a non-party motion to publish made to, but denied by Division 1, as well as (b) the superiority of "actual knowledge" to "inquiry notice."	
III.	Statement of the Case		
IV.	Argument		

	A.	Trial Court Error
	B.	Division 1 Error
	C.	Actual Knowledge Is Superior to Inquiry Notice
V.	Conc	clusion

Table of Authorities

Cases **Booten v. Peterson**, 34 Wn2d 563, 209 P.2d 349 (1949), overruled on other grounds, Chaplin v. Sanders, Fralick v. Clark County, 22 Wn App 156, 589 P.2d 273 (1978), rev. In Re Forfeiture of One 1970 Chevrolet Chavelle, Kronawetter v. Tamoshan, Inc., 14 Wn App 820, Light v. McHugh, 28 Wn2d 326, McKasson v. State, 55 Wn App 18, 776 P.2d 971, Michak v. Transnation Title Ins. Co., 108 Wn App 412, 31 P.3d 20, rev. granted 145 Wn2d 1033, 43 P.3d 20, rev'd on

Newport Yacht Basin Ass'n of Condo Owners v. Supreme Northwest, Inc., 168 WnApp 56, 277 P.3d 18 (2012) 17
Paganelli v. Swendsen, 50 Wn2d 304, 311 P.2d 676 (1957)
<i>Piotrowski v. Parks</i> , 39 Wn App 37, 691 P.2d 591 (1984), rev.den. 103 Wn2d 1031 (1985)
Ray v. King Co., 120 Wn App 564, 86 P.3d 183, rev.den. 152 Wn2d 1027, 101 P.3d 421 (2004)
Roe v. Walsh, 76 Wash 148, 135 Pac 1031, 136 Pac 1146 (1913)
Schultz v. Plate, 48 Wn App 312, 739 P.2d 95 (1987)
State v. Constantine, 43 Wash 102, 86 Pac 384, 117 AmStRep 1043 (1906) 19
State v. McCormick, 56 Wash 469, 105 Pac 1037 (1909)
Strom v. Arcorace, 27 Wn2d 478, 178 P.2d 959 (1947)
Thompson v. Bain , 28 Wn2d 590, 183 P.2d 785 (1947)
Turner v. Creech, 58 Wash 439, 108 Pac 1084 (1910)
Wash State Grange v. Brandt, 136 Wn App 138, 148 P.3d 1069, rev.den. 161 Wn2d 1024, 171 P.3d 1059 (2006) 17
Winans v. Ross, 35 Wn App 238, 666 P.2d 908 (1983)11, 14
Windsor v. Boucier, 21 Wn2d 313, 150 P.2d 717 (1944)
Foreign Cases
Furlow v. Dunn, 201 Ark 23, 144 SW2d 31 (1940)
Getty v. Harmon, 53 F.Supp.2d 1053 (Wash 1999)

I. PETITIONERS AND COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioners are Richard and Margaret Anderson, Defendants/ Appellants below. They are no relation to Plaintiff/Respondent Judy Anderson. Petitioners seek discretionary review of Division 1's March 9, 2015 decision and denial of Petitioners' Motion For Reconsideration on April 16, 2015.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

In conformance with RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) and (4), the following considerations governing acceptance of review are at issue:

- (1) The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with this Court's decisions in *Light v. McHugh*, 28 Wn2d 326, 183 P.2d 470 (1947) and *Angell v. Hadley*, 33 Wn2d 837, 207 P2d 191 (1949);
- (2) The decision of Division 1 is also in conflict with the two "questions" in *Fralick v. Clark County*, 22 Wn App 156, *160 and n.1*, 589 P.2d 273 (1978) *rev.den.* 92 Wn2d 1005 (1979) a decision of Division 2 which, since it was denied review, possesses Supreme Court authority; and
- (3) This Petition involves two issues of substantial public interest regarding (a) clarification of the Common Grantor Doctrine, as demonstrated by a non-party motion to publish made to, but denied by

Division 1, as well as (b) the superiority of "actual knowledge" to "inquiry notice."

Based on the above RAP considerations, the issues are:

- 1. Does a Common Grantor case seeking to bind the Original Grantee require proof of *Fralick's* second "question" which, by its own express terms, applies only to "subsequent purchasers"?
- 2. Does an Original Grantee's "actual knowledge" of the Common Grantor's intent and their Original Agreement bind that Original Grantee even if there is some (erroneously) perceived lack of sufficient on-the-ground marking to constitute adequate "inquiry notice"?

3. Would a Common Grantor case

- (a) which differentiated enforcement of the agreement between the Original Parties (*Fralick's* first question) and what is necessary to bind subsequent purchasers from the Original Parties (*Fralick's* second question), and
- (b) which distinguished and prioritized "actual knowledge" and "inquiry notice", and
- (c) which emphasized the acts and words of the Common Grantor in determining what the Original Agreement between the Common Grantor and Original Grantee was,

help clarify the Doctrine in the public interest and thus partially loosen the "hoary knot" which Professor Browder wrote about in *The Practical*

Location of Boundaries, 56 MICH L REV 487, 489 (1958)?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a boundary case which sought resolution based on the Common Grantor Doctrine or, as it was known prior to *Fralick v. Clark County, supra,* "Location Fixed or Established by a Common Grantor." The trial court, and Division 1 in ¶56 of its opinion, held the Common Grantor, LeRoy F. Caverly, intended to convey to the Plaintiff/ Respondent, Judy Anderson, and her late husband, Charlie, two square ten-acre parcels of property, Tracts 3 and 4, based on the Voorheis Survey. Mr. Caverly commissioned the survey in 1969, 7 years before he sold to Judy and Charlie in 1976.

The uncontested evidence also established that Judy and Charlie (as well as other purchasers, Exhs 14, 17 and 56) had actual knowledge of this intent. Therefore, they consistently, and in writing, asserted that the Voorheis Survey had determined Tract boundaries and development. Exhs

¹ See Turner v. Creech, 58 Wash 439, 443, 108 Pac 1084 (1910); Roe v. Walsh, 76 Wash 148, 151, 135 Pac 1031, 136 Pac 1146 (1913); Windsor v Bourcier, 21 Wn2d 313 headnote 4, 150 P.2d 717 (1944); Strom v. Arcorace, 27 Wn2d 478, 480, 178 P.2d 959 (1947); Thompson v. Bain, 28 Wn2d 590, 591, 183 P.2d 785 (1947); Atwell v. Olson, 30 Wn2d 179, 183, 190 P.2d 783 (1948); Angell v. Hadley, 33 Wn2d 837, 839, 207 P.2d 191 (1949); Booten v. Peterson, 34 Wn2d 563 headnote 5, 209 P.2d 349 and 384 (1949); Martin v Hobbs, 44 Wn2d 787, 790, 270 P.2d 1067 (1954); Clausing v. Kassner, 60 Wn2d 12, 15, 371 P.2d 633 (1962); Kay Corp. v. Anderson, 72 Wn2d 879 headnote 1, 436 P.2d 459 (1967); and Kronawetter v. Tamoshan, Inc., 14 Wn App 820, 826, 545 P.2d 1230 (1976).

13 and 16, fax pages 8-11. Both courts, therefore, knew that the Original Agreement between the Common Grantor and Original Grantee was that the legal descriptions in their contract and deed fixed or established their boundaries based on the Voorheis Survey and its concrete monuments.

More specifically, the trial court made a number of Findings of Fact (FOF) which are uncontested verities on appeal (although many other FOF not directly involved in this appeal were objected to in detail at CP 151-163). Perhaps chief among them is FOF 31 (CP 48) which provides that:

All of the individuals who purchased one of the Tracts numbered 1-4 from Mr. Caverly did so based upon Exhibit 20, the original Voorheis Survey. *The legal descriptions for each of these parcels is based upon the Voorheis Survey*. (Emphasis supplied. *See also* FOFs 16, 25, 39, 40 and 51 and Conclusions of Law (COL) at CP 56, lines 3-4, CP 57, lines 20-22 and CP 58, lines 4-11 all quoted at pages 4 and 5 of Richard and Margaret Anderson's Reply Brief.)

In ¶54 of its opinion, Division 1 of the Court of Appeals cited the late Professor Stoebuck, from the fourth paragraph of 17 WASH PRAC §8.22. He wrote that, in determining what the Agreement of the Common Grantor and Grantee was:

The emphasis is on the acts and words of the grantor, who must in some way, usually by pointing out, indicate that a certain line is the boundary.

Then, in ¶56 of its opinion, Division 1 adopted one of the trial court's Conclusions of Law (COL) at CP 57, line 20 - 58, line 8:

Caverly "intended to deed two square ten-acre parcels" to Charles and Judy Anderson based on the Voorheis survey, his rough sketch of the property, and the legal description.

Since the trial court had already held that the Caverly legal descriptions were based on the Voorheis Survey (FOF 31), and since Division 1 also noted in ¶8 of its opinion that the rough sketch of the Caverly Tracts (Exh 3) contained legal descriptions based on the Voorheis Survey, both courts clearly recognized that the Original Agreement between Common Grantor Caverly and Original Grantee Judy Anderson was based on the Voorheis Survey.

Further, in her Answer to Defendants'/Appellants' Motion For Reconsideration in Division 1, Judy made two very similar acknowledgements. At page 18, lines 1 and 2 of her Answer, Judy wrote that:

Thus, what Mr. Caverly and Judy agreed to was that the legal descriptions established the subject boundary. (See footnote 5 infra.)

Then, at page 19, lines 8-15, Judy further wrote that:

Of course Judy had actual knowledge of her agreement with the common grantor. It is difficult to imagine how one could reach an agreement with someone without having actual knowledge of it. So of course Judy is bound by her agreement with Mr. Caverly, which, as the trial court determined in its unchallenged fact finding, was that they agreed to the boundary as set forth in the legal description. (See footnote 5 infra.)

The uncontested evidence therefore also established that a subsequent 1994 Cascade survey, which located the legal descriptions north of the Voorheis boundaries 18 years later, was not part of or in any way related to the Common Grantor/Original Grantee Agreement. Cascade used a DNR east quarter-corner monument which had not even existed when the Voorheis Survey was performed. Moreover, the DNR east quarter-corner was 48 feet north of the east quarter-corner used by Voorheis, so Cascade shifted all legal descriptions north. Regardless, Cascade's use of the DNR monument is now accepted as correct. CP 47, lines 11-15.

Putting it together like a syllogism:

- 1. Judy has actual knowledge that she agreed to the boundary of her Tract 4 based on her legal description.
- 2. Her legal description, as well as Mr. Caverly's rough sketch with her subdivisional legal description (Exh 3), was based on the Voorheis Survey (FOF 31).
 - 3. Ergo, the Original Agreement between Common Grantor

Caverly and Original Grantee Judy was that Judy's Tract 4 boundary was based on the Voorheis Survey.

4. Consequently, the Cascade survey, performed on that boundary for the first time in 1994, 18 years after Judy purchased, is not the basis of the Original Agreement.

Nevertheless, both courts concluded the Voorheis Survey provided insufficient on-the-ground marking of Caverly Tracts 2 and 4 to provide inquiry notice of the agreed boundary. Put another way, both courts below held that their perceived lack of *inquiry notice* from the Voorheis Survey is superior to Original Grantee, Judy Anderson's *actual knowledge* of the agreed boundary based on that Voorheis Survey.

Consequently, the Cascade survey, locating the legal descriptions of Tracts 2 and 4 on the ground for the first time in 1994, 18 years after the 1976 sale, and clearly not consistent or even related to the Common Grantor/Original Grantee Agreement, will determine the ownership boundary in default of sufficient inquiry notice from Voorheis.

IV. ARGUMENT

These rulings below contravene the definition and legal hierarchy of "actual knowledge" in contrast to "inquiry notice." The decisions below also demonstrate a complete misapprehension of the Common Grantor Doctrine. It is a contract enforcement doctrine. It has no statute of limitations. It takes effect immediately upon contract or deed execution precisely because it is enforcing the Original Agreement between the parties. As stated at the end of ¶3, Stoebuck, 17 WASH PRAC §8.22:

As a theoretical matter, this suggests that an agreement between the parties is the basis of the doctrine and not some theory, such as estoppel, that would bind only the grantor. (Emphasis supplied.)

Common Grantor cases are not based on adverse use to a visible line, or implied agreement to a well-defined line based on mutual recognition and acquiescence. Both adverse possession and acquiescence have a ten-year statute of limitations because they are not enforcing an express agreement. However, like parol boundary agreements, the Common Grantor Doctrine has no statute of limitations (Stoebuck, *supra*, 17 WASH PRAC §8.22, last ¶) because it is based on an express understanding between adjoining owners regarding their mutual boundary.²

² See e.g. Piotrowski v. Parks, 39 Wn App 37, 43-44 at headnote 3, 691 P.2d 591 (1984) rev.den. 103 Wn2d 1031 (1985): [P]arol agreement does require an express agreement as to the location of the boundary from the beginning; it only requires possessory action concerning that line so as to place successor parties on inquiry notice that the fence (or other suitable structure) has been agreed upon as to the boundary. (Emphasis supplied). Compare Browder, supra, 56 MICH L REV at 490: [A]n oral 'agreement' between adjoining landowners will, ... become binding on them, and perhaps also on their successors in interest.

Common Grantor cases also have two distinct levels; first the Original Agreement must be proven and then, if (and only if) subsequent purchasers are sought to be bound, those subsequent purchasers must either have "actual knowledge" of the Original Agreement (whether or not there are on-the-ground markings) or there must be sufficient on-the-ground markings to give "inquiry notice" (as a lesser substitute for actual knowledge) of the agreed boundary.³

Here, the second level, binding a subsequent purchaser, was never applicable. Judy Anderson is the Original Grantee. All that had to be proven was the Original Agreement. It was proven. Judy's actual knowledge of the Voorheis Survey as the basis of the Original Agreement binds her to that survey. She may not have her ownership determined by the Cascade survey if the Common Grantor Doctrine is correctly understood and implemented.

Like the 1947 cases of *Light v. McHugh*, *supra*, and *Strom v.*Arcorace, supra, the instant one also involves an Original Grantee who

³ Fralick, supra, 22 Wn App at 160 and n.1:

⁽¹⁾ was there an agreed boundary established between the common grantor and the original grantee, and (2) if so, would a visual examination of the property indicate to subsequent purchasers that the deed line was no longer functioning as "true" boundary?¹

XXX

¹Of course, even in the absence of an on-the-ground marking, a subsequent purchaser with actual notice of the agreement is bound by the line. *Furlow v. Dunn,* 201 Ark 23, 144 SW2d 31 (1940); Browder, *The Practical Location of Boundaries*, 56 Mich L Rev 487, 529 (1958).

wants to gain property by claiming that her legal description should be located on the ground by a subsequent "correct" survey.

This case actually involves three (3) surveys. (1) The first, commissioned by the Common Grantor, LeRoy Caverly (who died in January 1994⁴), was performed in 1969. It is the Voorheis Survey. (2) The second, the RMC survey, was performed sometime between 1974 and 1994, and agreed with the Voorheis Survey. Exh 16, fax page 10, ¶3. RMC also advised the late Charlie Anderson, the Original 1976 Grantee, that the 1974 DNR monument Cascade relied upon was incorrect. *Id.* (3) The third survey, performed in 1994, is the Cascade survey. Exhs 15 and 28. In 2007, Judy Anderson filed this lawsuit claiming that the legal description for her Tract 4 of the Caverly Tracts should be located on the ground using the Cascade survey. CP 381-390. Her complaint never even mentioned the Voorheis Survey. *Id.* Further, this continued to be her position at the time of the 2013 trial. Tr1, p.55, lines 18-21.

Judy also asserted -- at page 2 of her Answer to Appellants'

Motion For Reconsideration -- that Appellants' claim based on the

⁴ An online search for Mr. Caverly's date of death shows it to be January 18, 1994. www.legacy.com/obituaries/heraldnet/obituary-search.aspx?daterange=99998 firstname=leroy&lastname=caverly. If this Court takes judicial notice of this internet posting under ER 201, it is impossible to conclude that Mr. Caverly could have agreed to the Cascade survey boundary between Tracts 2 and 4 because that was not set until the summer of 1994, 7 months after he died. Exh 28.

Voorheis Survey was not "Effectively" raised at trial. Yet, it was "effective" enough that the trial court and Division 1 both held that the legal description was based on the Voorheis Survey. Judy certainly cannot contend that those courts reached those conclusions based on her testimony. She continued at trial to contend that the Cascade survey -- which her Complaint pleaded without even mentioning the Voorheis Survey -- was the correct survey to determine her Tract 4 boundary. And Judy claimed this even after both courts below held the Voorheis Survey was the basis of her Agreement with Mr. Caverly. It was Appellants who "effectively" taught the trial court that the Voorheis Survey was the basis of (1) Judy's legal description, (2) Mr. Caverly's rough sketch with her subdivisional description (Exh 3), and (3) the Original Agreement. *See* Exh 37 as well as Exhs 10, 13, 14, 16, 17, 30, 31, 32, 33 and 56.

Moreover, Judy's Answer to the Motion For Reconsideration also contended in the last 3 lines at page 19, that "They agreed to the boundary as legally described, which simply requires a survey to plot it accurately on the ground." Judy argues that Fralick's meeting of the minds to the identical tract of land legally described was to be surveyed! Judy asserted at page 18, lines 12-14, however, that the first survey which located the

⁵ Judy's repeated argument that property was purchased "by legal description only" was specifically rejected in *Winans v. Ross*, 35 Wn App 238, **241-242**, 666 P.2d 908 (1983).

boundary was the Cascade survey in 1994, 18 years after the sale. But that ignores Charlie Anderson's memo to Cascade in 1994 where he wrote that there had already been 2 surveys of Tracts 1-4; the Voorheis Survey and the RMC survey. Exh 16, fax page 10, ¶3. So Cascade's was not the first survey, even though the original Voorheis Survey did not mark the north boundary of Tract 4. Exh 10. Moreover, even if Mr. Caverly did not mark that line by 1975 as Exhibit 10 indicates he did, RMC would have been first to do so and RMC agreed with Voorheis. *Id*.

Even more importantly, since Cascade's survey did not mark the boundary until 1994, 18 years after the sale, how can it defeat what both courts have held was the basis of the Original Agreement; that is, the Voorheis Survey? Since the Voorheis Survey was the basis of the legal descriptions and Original Agreement, and since Judy admits actual knowledge of that, how is a Cascade measurement 18 years later better than any post 1976 measurement/"dimension" (Exh 16, fax pages 8, ¶2) using Voorheis monuments and methodology? If a later measurement by Cascade is legally sufficient for Judy now, how could "dimensioning" from Voorheis done between 1976 and 1994 be legally insufficient? How could "dimensioning" from Voorheis monuments, which Mr. Caverly pointed out (Exh 13), be legally insufficient for 18 years between 1976

and 1994, if measurement by Cascade, 7 months after Mr. Caverly was dead, be legally sufficient? How can measurement based on the agreed Voorheis Survey, as Mr. Caverly intended, be legally insufficient, but measurement by Cascade, in contravention of Mr. Caverly's intent, be legally sufficient? Since we know what Judy bargained for, and since Mr. McHugh and Mr. Strom were held to what they bargained for in 28 Wn2d at 331 and 27 Wn2d at 481-482, the trial court and Division 1 should not have held that the Common Grantor Doctrine was not proven.

A. Trial Court Error

The trial judge thought there was a stipulation to the Voorheis Survey (Tr 2, p. 12, lines 8 – 18 and p.24, lines 15-20) and therefore initially directed both litigants – twice – to have their legal descriptions reformed so that the Voorheis Survey boundary was described based on the Cascade methodology. CP 253, lines 6-8 and 273, lines 6-9. Judy later persuaded the trial court to reverse that decision because the judge believed the Doctrine was not proven.

The trial court reached that "unproven" conclusion, however, because it mis-applied the inquiry notice alternative (and only that alternative) of *Fralick's* second question in the Common Grantor Doctrine. *Contrast* CP 55, lines 1-5 with *Fralick*, *supra*, 22 Wn App at

160, n.1. *Fralick's* second question was first mis-applied because both its actual and inquiry notice alternatives relate exclusively, by their own express terms, only to "subsequent purchasers," not to the Original Grantee, Plaintiff/Respondent Judith Anderson.

It was also mis-applied because the trial court never even considered Judy's admitted actual knowledge of her Original Agreement with Mr. Caverly. Even a subsequent purchaser with actual knowledge of the Original Agreement is bound by it. *Contrast Fralick, supra,* 22 Wn App at 160 n.1 with CP 55, lines 1-5.

The trial court also mis-applied a clear, cogent and convincing burden of proof. CP 54, line 23 and 58, lines 9-13. Neither litigant even suggested that burden applied. CP 288-328. The trial court even acknowledged there was no precedent supporting it. CP 13, line 19 - CP 14, line 4.6

B. Division 1 Error

Division 1 correctly observed in ¶3 of its opinion that the Common Grantor's 1969 Voorheis Survey did not mark the NW corner of what became Judy Anderson's Tract 4 (which was also the SW corner of

⁶ In fact, the case the trial court relied upon, and another more recent, twice applied the substantial evidence burden. *Winans v. Ross, supra,* 35 Wn App at *241 and 242* and *Schultz v. Plate,* 48 Wn App 312, *316,* 739 P.2d 95 (1987).

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