91865-1

RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Jun 08, 2015, 9:14 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

CASE NO. 70814-7-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JUDITH ANDERSON

FILED

Respondent

CIERK OF THE SUPREME COURTRICHARD AND MARGARET ANDERSON STATE OF WASHINGTON

Appellants

ANSWER OF RESPONDENT JUDITH ANDERSON TO APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

> Roy T. J. Stegena, WSBA #36402 Rossi Vucinovich, PC Attorneys for Respondent

Rossi Vucinovich, PC. 1000 Second Ave. Suite 1610 Seattle, WA 98104 Telephone: (425) 646-800

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. APPELLANTS FAILED TO PRESERVE FOR APPEAL THE SOLE ISSUE UPON WHICH THEIR PETITION FOR REVIEW IS BASED.

Richard seeks to quiet title based on a boundary hypothetically projected from the inaccurate Voorheis survey, which did not actually survey either of the lots in question or the boundary separating them. Review by this Court should be denied for a variety of reasons. First, Richard failed to assert a claim based on the Voorheis survey at trial, and therefore failed to preserve it for appeal. RAP 2.5(a). "Arguments not raised in the trial court generally will not be considered on appeal". State v. Riley, 121 Wn.2d 22, 30, 846 P.2d 1365 (1993). *Id.* at 1371. Van Vonno v. Hertz Corp., 120 Wn. 2d 416, 427, 841 P.2d 1244 (1992).

Richard's formal announcement at the outset of trial that his only claims to be tried were "based on use and occupation" to a "persistent line created by the swale and fence remnant . . ." necessarily precludes any claim based on the Voorheis (or any other) survey because surveys are not based on considerations of use and occupancy, but rather on legal descriptions. (CP 288, CP 295, Emphasis added.) Furthermore, it is

undisputed that the 'line created by the swale and fence remnant' is irregularly shaped or 'curved,' and that the legal description, by contrast, establishes a straight boundary.

Thus, Richard affirmatively eliminated from the trial the sole issue upon which his Petition for Review is based. Following Richard's representation that his only claim at trial was of title to a curved line based on use and occupation, the Voorheis survey of a straight line retained only limited relevance, specifically in connection with possibly establishing the location of the straight part of the fence / swale line on which Richard relied but ultimately failed to prove. The Voorheis survey as an actual basis for recovery, however, had already been eliminated at the outset of trial, as the trial court and Court of Appeals properly concluded.

B. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING APPELLANTS' POST-TRIAL MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION.

Richard first raised the Voorheis survey as a basis for recovery after trial in a motion for 'reconsideration' pursuant to CR 59. In a procedurally analogous situation the court in <u>JDFJ Corp. v. International Raceway, Inc.</u>, 97 Wn. App. 1, 970 P.2d 343 (1999) stated:

Civil Rule 59 does not permit a plaintiff, finding a judgment unsatisfactory, to suddenly propose a new theory of the case. JDFJ's motion for reconsideration was in essence an

inadequate and untimely attempt to amend its complaint in general, violating equitable rules of estoppel, election of remedies, and the invited error doctrine. We refuse to permit such a perversion of the rules.

Id. at 7.

Richard's motion for 'reconsideration' at the trial court level was the same 'perversion of the rules' the Court refused to permit in <u>JDFJ</u>, *Id*. Indeed, Richard's CR 59 motion did not actually seek 'reconsideration' at all. Rather, it sought under the <u>guise</u> of a motion for reconsideration the <u>initial consideration</u> of a new (or previously eliminated) claim fundamentally different than what he represented to the trial court as his 'only remaining claims.'

The court in River House Dev., Inc. v. Integrus Architecture, PS, 167 Wn. App. 221, 272 P.3d 289 (2012) stated, "We review a trial court's denial of a motion for reconsideration for abuse of discretion, that is, discretion manifestly unreasonable, or exercised on untenable grounds, or for untenable reasons." *Id.* at 231. "The trial court's discretion extends to refusing to consider an argument raised for the first time on reconsideration absent a good excuse." *Id.* Richard neither established nor asserted any 'good excuse' for asserting a claim based on the Voorheis

¹ <u>JDFJ</u>, *Id.*, is not distinguishable on the basis that Richard is not the <u>plaintiff</u>. Richard was the 'counterclaim plaintiff' at trial. He was the only party who asserted a claim at trial and had a burden of proof to carry.

survey for the first time after trial. The trial court was therefore well within its discretion in denying Richard's post-trial motion for reconsideration.

C. APPELLANTS MAY ONLY QUIET TITLE ON THE STRENGTH OF THEIR OWN TITLE, AND NOT ON ANY ALLEGED WEAKNESS IN RESPONDENT'S TITLE.

As Richard acknowledges in his first issue for review, he proposes that title be quieted in his favor based on an alleged weakness in Judy's title rather than on the strength of his own. His characterizes his appeal as a "Common Grantor case seeking to bind the Original Grantee," i.e., his adversary, Judy. (Emphasis added, Petition for Review, p. 2, issue 1.)

As Richard described the scope of his appeal in his Opening Brief, this is a 'case about Judy' (p. 6), in which he "only seeks to bind Judy" (p. 27) to the 'Voorheis Survey Line.' By only seeking to bind Judy to the hypothetical line he now prefers, Richard has abandoned any reliance on the strength of his own title, and instead relies solely on an alleged weakness in Judy's title to the disputed area.

However, it is well established in Washington that "A party seeking to quiet title must succeed on the strength of its own title, and cannot prevail based on the weakness of the other party's title." Secs. & Inv. Corp. v. Horse Heaven Hgts., 132 Wn. App. 188, 195, 130 P.3d 880 (2006). Richard's appeal, as he himself characterizes it, is in direct

contravention of this long-standing rule. Richard has no satisfactory response to this fatal defect in his appeal. His actual response, beginning at the bottom of page 7 of his Reply Brief, is simply the contention that Judy's title is weak, and his is strong. However, Richard cannot rely on any alleged weakness in Judy's title under established Washington law, and he has abandoned any reliance on the strength of his own title by only challenging Judy's. Richard's Petition should therefore be denied.

- D. THE DISMISSAL OF APPELLANTS' COUNTERCLAIMS ON NUMEROUS BASES IS SUPPORTED BY THE RECORD.
- 1. Appellants Failed to Prove a Claim of Title Based on the Discredited Voorheis Survey.

Even if this Court were to somehow reach the merits of Richard's claim based on a straight line hypothetically projected from the discredited Voorheis survey, the trial court's ruling is amply supported by the record, as the Court of Appeals corrected concluded. "It is well recognized that an appellate court may uphold the trial court's ruling on appeal on any basis supported by the record." Stieneke v. Russi, 145 Wn. App. 544, 559 – 560, 190 P.3d 60 (2008).

The Voorheis survey as a basis for recovery by Richard is precluded for numerous reasons in addition to those already addressed above. First, it is undisputed that Voorheis did not survey Lots 2 or 4 or

the line separating them, but rather an undivided tract consisting of 80 acres from which the lots in question were <u>subsequently</u> carved out.

Second, there is no factual basis in the record to suggest that anyone <u>projected</u> a boundary line from the Voorheis survey at or around the time of Judy's purchase in 1976. "The lack of a finding on an issue is presumptively a negative finding against the person with the burden of proof." <u>Taplett v. Khela</u>, 60 Wash. App. 751, 760, 807 P.2d 885 (1991).

Third, Richard admits that when he purchased Lot 2 he believed the common grantor established a curved boundary consisting of a fence line and a swale. Opening Brief, p. 29. He therefore did not rely on the Voorheis survey when he purchased his property, just as he did not rely on it at trial.

Fourth, projecting a boundary from the Voorheis survey as of the date Judy purchased Lot 4 would be purely speculative. <u>Before</u> Judy's purchase in 1976, the Game Department's surveyor correctly plotted the location of a missing quarter corner monument in 1974, thereby revealing the error made by the 1969 Voorheis survey in using an existing pipe located 48 feet from the correct location. CP 47, f.f. 25, CP 49, f.f. 34. Had Lot 4 been surveyed when Judy purchased it in 1976, the surveyor would have encountered both the pipe incorrectly placed by Voorheis and

the replacement marker accurately placed by the Game Department's surveyor in 1974. One can only speculate whether a surveyor in 1976 would have used the incorrectly located pipe on which Voorheis relied, or the replacement monument correctly located and placed by the Game Department's surveyor in 1974. However, viewing the facts in the light most favorable to Judy, a surveyor in 1976 would more likely have chosen the Game Department surveyor's correctly located replacement monument, as the now generally accepted Cascade survey did.

Fifth, the trial court found that when Judy purchased lot 4 from Mr.

Caverly, they agreed that the subject boundary was based on its legal description rather than on any particular survey of that legal description.

As demonstrated above, these terms of their agreement are unchallenged matters of fact that are now verities.

Accordingly, Richard's reliance on the trial court's finding that the legal description was based on the Voorheis survey is misplaced. There is no contention that the agreed-upon legal description is defective, uncertain or ambiguous. The agreed-upon legal description itself controls, not an inaccurate survey Richard never even relied on until after trial.

Thus, even if it had been properly raised, a quiet title claim based on the Voorheis survey is not supported by the record in any event.

2. The Affirmance of the Trial Court's Decision is Supported by Controlling Case Law, Not in Conflict with it.

Richard's Petition does not rely on established case law, but rather on mischaracterizations of established case law. The elements of the common grantor rule are as set forth in <u>Fralick v. Clark County</u>, 22 Wn. App. 156, 160; 589 P.2d 273,275 (1978):

It is clear that a grantor who owns land on both sides of a line which he has established as the common boundary is bound by that line. . . However, for the boundary line to become binding and conclusive on grantees,

It must plainly appear that the land was sold and purchased with reference to the line, and that there was a meeting of the minds as to the identical tract of land to be transferred by the sale.

In other words, the question of applicability of the common-grantor theory presents two problems: (1) was there an agreed boundary established between the common grantor and <u>original grantee</u>, and (2) if so, <u>would a visual examination of the property indicate to subsequent purchasers</u> that the deed line was no longer functioning as the "true boundary?"

Id. at 160 (Emphasis added.)

The first question under this analysis is whether the common grantor and the original grantee agreed to a boundary at odds with the boundary legally described in the deed. Fralick, Id.; Lamm v. McTighe, 72 Wn.2d 587, 591, 434 P.2d 565 (1967). Because Judy and Mr. Caverly

agreed to the legal description itself rather than a boundary at odds with the legal description, Richard's common grantor claim necessarily fails.

At trial, Richard unsuccessfully attempted to satisfy the visual inspection requirement of the Rule's second level that applies to subsequent grantees. On appeal he pretends that the visual inspection requirement applicable to subsequent grantees never applied to him after all. He states on page 9 of his Petition, "Here, the second level, binding a subsequent grantee, was never applicable." On the contrary, Richard specifically pled in his counterclaim, "The boundaries marked on the ground by the fence . . . are . . . binding on Defendants [Richard and his wife] as subsequent purchasers with inquiry notice under the Common Grantor Doctrine." CP 369.

Richard's argument relies on a mischaracterization of a footnote to the <u>Fralick</u> decision recognizing an exception, not applicable here, to the Rule's visual inspection requirement he failed to satisfy at trial. It states:

Of course, even in the absence of an on-the-ground marking, a <u>subsequent purchaser</u> with actual notice of the agreement is bound by the line. <u>Furlow v. Dunn</u>, 201 Ark. 23, 144 S.W.2d 31 (1940); Browder, The Practical Location of Boundaries, 56 Mich. L. Rev. 487, 529 (1958).

(Fralick, 22 Wn. App., 160, fn. 1, Emphasis added.)

The agreement to which <u>Furlow</u>, *Id.* specifically applies is an agreement between the common grantor and original grantee to a boundary at odds with the legal description. The trial court concluded that no such agreement was reached. CP 58. Furthermore, the actual notice to which <u>Furlow</u> refers is a <u>subsequent grantee's</u> actual notice of such an agreement between the common grantor and the initial grantee. Richard admits that he did not have such notice, since he believed Mr. Caverly established a fence along the <u>curved</u> visible line as the southern boundary of Tract 2..." Opening Brief, p. 29.

Furlow is therefore inapplicable because the types of agreement and notice it requires are both absent. Richard nonetheless argues

Furlow's applicability by misstating its holding. He argues that Furlow applies because Judy had actual notice of her own agreement with Mr.

Caverly.² However, Furlow's exception to the Rule's visual inspection requirement is satisfied only by a subsequent grantee's actual notice of an agreement between the common grantor and initial grantee to a boundary at odds with the legal description.

² This adds nothing to the analysis. <u>Everyone</u> who enters into a binding agreement necessarily has actual notice of that agreement.

Richard's discussion of actual notice and inquiry notice is premised on his mischaracterization of <u>Fralick</u>, and therefore without merit. Richard's Common Grantor Rule claim necessarily failed because neither the visual inspection requirement nor the alternative of proving a subsequent grantee's actual notice of an agreement to a boundary at odds with the legal description was satisfied.

Richard also mischaracterizes <u>Light v. McHugh</u>, 28 Wn. 2d 326, 183 P.2d 470 (1947). In <u>Light</u>, the property seller <u>pointed out</u> a fence she told the buyer marked the property's south boundary, and the buyer accepted it as the boundary. *Id.* at 329 and 331. The court held that the agreed-upon fence controlled the boundary's location.

The present case is factually distinguishable. There is no evidence that Mr. Caverly pointed out any physical features as representing the boundary. "The lack of a finding on an issue is presumptively a negative finding against the person with the burden of proof." Taplett v. Khela, 60 Wash. App. 751, 760, 807 P.2d 885 (1991). Light is therefore distinguishable.

Similarly distinguishable is <u>Angell v. Hadlsy</u>, 33 Wn. 2d 837, 207 P.2d 191 (1949), in which the seller <u>pointed out</u> two iron stakes as

marking the boundary at issue. This Court held the pointed out was binding.

The decisions of the trial court and Court of Appeals are therefore in complete harmony with established case law governing the Common Grantor Rule.

IV. CONCLUSION

For any or all of the foregoing reasons, the Petition for Review should be denied.